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hill, Frederick Claudius, and Thomas Clagett—all four justices—
continued the service for a few months. They were subsequently
ordered to pay 500 pounds of tobacco for the clerk’s fees and
expenses incurred as a result of the delay. Two of the counts
justices, Philip Lee and John Bradford, who had opposed the
operation of the ferry, were merchants in Nottingham 2

But it was the Town of Marlborough, only four miles from
Charles Town up the Western Branch, which became the
town’s chief rival. With new and better roads trade was not a¢
dependent on travel by water. Also, with the spread of the
county’s population northward, people stopped rather at Marl
borough to trade than to go on to Charles Town. Marlborough
soon became the hub of the county. There were times when
the county court, lacking a sufficient number of justices present
at Charles Town, was forced to adjourn and move to Marl-
borough to hold its meetings.™ Finally the county standard of
weights and measures was moved to Marlborough in 1717.

In the following year a number of citizens petitioned the
General Assembly to move the county seat to Marlborouch
They maintained that the present site was inconvenient to
two-thirds or more of the county and that Marlborough wa¢
better located. To press the petition, a number of citizens
raised a private subscription towards the building of a new
courthouse. The proposal for the change met with the approval
of the General Assembly, and an act was passed which author
ized the removal of the courthouse, the purchase of two acres
of land on which to build a new one, a levy of five pounds of
tobacco per poll for purchasing the land and completing the
building, the removal of the records to the new courthouse,
and the sale of the old building and prison at Charles Town
when the new one was finished.**

Tt took three years to accomplish the change, but on March
28, 1721 twenty-five years after the county had been established.
three of the justices met at Charles Town and immediatels
adjourned to meet at Marlborough at three o'clock in the

2 PGCo. CL. Rec,, Lib. D, [, 280, 311: Lib. G, £, 37a, 40a, 129, 167; Arch. M
. 58, 70; PGCo. Land Rec., Lib. E, f. 16, 225.
0. Ct. Rec, Lib, D, £ 81% Lib. H, [, 662
** Ibid., Lib, K, £.77-79; Aveh. Md. XXXVIIT, pp. 230-211
County Courthouses, pp. 118-119.

Sec also Radof!

SIDELIGHTS. 411
alternoon of the same day. There they were joined by the
other justices for the March court in the new building* Charles
Town was no longer the site of the county seat.

One of the items of business at this term of court was to pass
an ordinance for the selling of the old courthouse to the highest
bidder. Accordingly, at the June court of 1721 the three acres
of land at Charles Town, together with the courthouse and
prison, were sold to Joseph Belt. He paid only 2200 pounds
of tobacco for them.?® Today, only one old brick home, which
may possibly have been built during this period, still stands
at the mouth of the Western Branch overlooking the Patuxent
River. All other traces of Charles Town, the first county seat
of Prince George's County, have long since disappeared. Never-
theless, we must remember that Charles Town had its not-to-
heoverlooked place in the carly development of both the
Province of Maryland and Prince George’s County.

= [bid., Lib. K, [, 77-80.
s*1bid., £ 85, 249.
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number of prominent Southerners refused to support him
some few remained silent on the issuc; and at least one joine!
the Democratic Party. Among those bolting Scott were W. D)
Merrick, John Henderson, Daniel Jenifer, James Lyons. Ken
neth Rayner, Waddy Thompson, W. G. “Parson” Brownlow
Merideth P. Gentry, Alexander H. Stephens, Robert Toomts
James Johnson, Alexander White, James Abercrombie, Walies
Brooke, Charles J. Faukner, and C. H. Williams. Edward (
Cabell, Jackson Morton, Joseph P. Caldwell, and David Outli=
were among those who kept silent, while Thomas L. Clingm»
joined the Democratic Party.™ With the failure of these men
to support him, plus the opposition of the united Democrats. =
is hardly surprising that Scott was so badly beaten in the clection
in November, 1852. He reccived only forty-two electoral votes
to 254 for Franklin Pierce.

* Cole, Whig Party in South, pp. 260-263: Joscph

Klin Bishop. Presiion
Nominations and Elections (New York. 1916) pp.

SIDELIGHTS

Chatles Town, Prince George’s First County Seat

By Loutse Jovxer HiEnToN

HarLEs Town, Prince George's first county seat, had its

Deginning as one of the towns or ports established between
1683 and 1684 by the General Assembly of the Province of
Vfaryland, at the behest of the Lord Proprictary, in an effort
w advance tracle and to bring more money into the province.
The Act of 1683 for the Advancement of Trade, the Supple-
mentary Act of 1684, and the Further Additional Act of 1686
mamed commissioners in cach county and directed them to
purchase 100 cres of land for a town or port at cach place
gecified in the three acts. The commissioners were instructed
w0 have this land surveyed. Streets, lanes, and alleys with open
spaces left for crecting a church, chapel, market house, or other
public buildings were to be laid out and the remainder divided
nt0 100 equal lots. It was provided that the owner of the land
s to have th~ first choice of a lot, while the remainder was
" be sc!d to county inhabitants. Any lots remaining unsold
sfter four months were to be offered to the general public.
Houses of at least twenty feet square were to be built by each
wner, and all ships or vessels trading with the province were
rquired to use these ports or towns.

The land “att_Pig Pointe vpon Mount Colverte mannor in
Patuxent River” was one of five places in Calvert County which
Twwmamed in the Act of 1684 as a town or port. And in 1686
Colonel Henry Darnall, Keeper of His Lordship's Great Seal,
“ designated as the member of the Council to have charge of
e towns in Calvert County, while Mr. Ninian Beall was
wpointed the officer of Mount Calvert Town. Tt was Beall's

T 0 Keep a Tl account of all ships which used the port’s
“ilities.t Mount Calvert Manor was a_ tract of one thousand

Ve which had been surveyed for Philip Calvert, youngest

Tiam H. Browne, et. al., eds., The Archives of Maryland_(70 vols. to date,
*yrimore, 1883- ), 'V, pp. 500-502, 527: VII, pp. 609-617: XIII, pp. 111-120,
2 Hereafter cited as Arch. M.

401
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brother of the Lord Proprietary, in 1657 and granted to him i~
the following year. In 1667 Calvert sold it to William Groom-
who had it resurveyed three years later. When Groome dir!
in 1677, he left the tract to his sons, William and Richard: i~
the will William was given first choice of his hall.* The ¢’
records of Calvert County have not survived, but from tran:
actions recorded in Prince George’s County we can reconstru®
some of its history. William Groome apparently chose the
northern half of the tract. and it was out of the northeast cornes
of his part that Charles Town was laid out.

Since roads were few and in poor condition, most of t'r
travel within the province was done by boat, and it was ir
portant that the towns were located on waterways, not on's
for the unloading and loading of vessels from abroad, bur f-
accessibility by potential customers such as the farmer v’
planter who lived inland. Charles Town was advantageon's
situated on the Patuxent River at the mouths of the Charles
Branch and the Western Branch, so that it drew trade not on's
ffom the immediate vicinity, but from the upper reaches
these three streams and their tributaries as well.

During the town’s carly years, stores were opened an’
operated by Richard Charlett, a factor for Peter Paggen & (-
Robert Bradley, a factor for Edward and Dudley Carleton: €+
Thomas Hollyday, a factor for Peter Paggen & Co. after t'-
death of Charlett; David Small, a factor for Joseph Jacke
and Co.; John Gerrard, a factor for Peter Paggen & Co. af'r
the death of Col. Hollyday: Thomas Sprigg, a factor for Timat's
Keyser; Thomas Emms & Co.; John Bradford, a factor for |
Hide; Charles Reid, John Contee, George Harris, John €1
Josiah Wilson, and others.

These storekeepers sold all sorts of merchandise: articles
wearing apparel, such as jackets, waistcoats, breeches, gons
petticoats and so on, and all manner of cloth, weapons, =
powder, and some imported foodstuffs, furniture and kette's
As a service to county inhabitants, merchants stored toh

'

*Rent Rolls, Vol. 2, no. 2, Calvert Prince
ords, Lib. Q. £ 421 Lib. 12, T. 603; Provin
Lib.'5. 1191, Hall of Records, Annapolis, Md

s Btince Gearge’ Coupey{Cauet Records Lib. A L£.62, 84 130, 107, 20 138
385, 418; Lib. B, f. 162, 100, 210, 301, a2u; Lib €
orge’s County Land Records, T 50

rge Frederick, p. 300; Tand ¥
Court Records. Lib. FF. {11

.vl, M|v lnh

|
|
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waiting shipment for a charge of ten pounds of tobacco per
hogshead *

William Groome was the first to open an ordinary or inn on
his town lot and he was soon competing with an imposing num-

her of like proprietors® Prices of liquor were set by the
ounty court and the inns were licensed, The town also
possessed two practicing physicians @ and a church, When the

Church of Fngland was established in Maryland in 1692 and
the province was divided into parishes, there were a few
churches already existing. One of these at Mount Calvert or
Charles Town was St. Paul's church.

When Prince George's County was created in 1695, it in-
luded all of Charles County north of Mattawoman Creek, a
sast but sparsely settled arca, and that part of Calvert County
Iving on the west side of the Patuxent River north of Swanson
Creck, a comparatively small but wellsettled area. Charles
Town was the only town in the new county, and by 1605 it
had become a thriving business center. Instructions were
wued by the General Assembly for the county court to meet in
the church ot Charles Town until a courthouse could be built.”
The town vas called both Charles Town and Mount Calvert,
'mt at the first meeting of the court on April 23, 1696, the
mstices ordered that it was to be called Charles Town.® The
ounty clerl. was meticulous in recording the action, but the
nme of Mount Calvert seemed to cling, and the inhabitants
‘mtinued to use the two names interchangeably.

Just where the court held its first meeting on April 23rd is a
moot question. One would assume that the instructions of the
General Assembly were followed and that the court met in the
church. Perhaps it did; but it was not until a special meeting
f the court, held on May 4th, that the original copy of the
rder was presented, and it was not until a meeting on July
Zith that Sheriff Greenfield was ordered to have the shingles
md lumber removed from the old church and to ready the
huilding for the court’s sessions in the following month.® Tt
“Aveh. Md., V1L p. 616
*PGCo. i vec, Lib. A, £ 8 21, 150, 521; 1
LT, Vi Toas L. . 165 Lib, G 1. 30, 698, 7
*Ibid., Lib. A, 1. 123.4
“tren XIX, p. 233

2
*PGCo. Ct Rec., Lib. A, . 7.
b 18,

191, 354, 360;

B, £ 119,
7: I
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scems probable that the first metting was in Col. Thome
Hollyday's (the chief justice) store, as he later received pavmen:
out of the county levy for its use “to keep court in. " At the
court’s first meeting the sheriff was ordered 1o have a s
pillory, whipping post, and stocks erected, which was don-
ata cost of 4600 pounds of tobacco.!!

At the meeting in June, 1696, the land in Charles Towr
belonging 10 the church and court was ordered surveved
Thomas Addison, who had been made deputy surveyor for th-
county, returned his certificate of survey for the courthon
Jand in the following month.’* A year later the justices entere!
into an agreement with Robert Brothers, a carpenter, to pn
him 50,000 pounds of tobacco for building the courthousc. I+
was to be a frame building, thirty-five feet in length by twents
two feet in width, with locust or cedar ground sills: the 1o
mainder was to be oak. The building was to have two doe
in front, with folding shutiers between the doors, and
transom windows of six lights cach, one on cach side of the pl -
of judicatory. The courthouse was to be well lathed
plastered, both above and below stairs, with one large windes
at cach gable end of the upper room, and the interior was ¢
he similar to the Calvert County courthouse. All of the worl
except the glzing and plastering, was set to be finished '
December 25, 1697. However, Brothers, claiming to have »
sick family, dallied with the work so that it was not until Jun-
1698, that the court met in its new auarters.’® In addition
Nicholas Sporne, an innkeeper, was employed to clear the
courtyard in order to lessen the danger of fire, cven thoueh thr
courthouse had no chimney. A few years later, arrangements
were made toadd a penthouse, so perhaps chimneys were adde !
at that time. In 1710 a prison was built on the courthouse hn*
for 12,000 pounds of tobacco.'*

'
nt

1 7bid., f. 8, 12, 257. See also Joseph H. Smith, cd.. Gourt Records of I
Georges County, Marvland 1696-1699 (Washington, 1961), p. xvi

' PGCo. Cu. Rec., Lih. A, f. 7, 5253, See also Morris L. Radoff. The €+
Courthouses and Records of Marvland, Part One; The Courthouses (Anna
Md.. 1960) . p. 117, and Smith, Cotr Records, p. xxiii

PGCo. Cr. Rec., Lib. A, £. 7. 10, 18,

2 bid., £. 180, 208, 316. See also Radofl, County Gourthouses, p. 117115
smith. Court Records, p. xxiii

W Arch. Md., XXIL p. 103; PGCo. Ci. Rec., Lib. A
D, £ 311

L 0STH Lib B DT 10
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William € roome seems to have disposed of most of his share
f Mount Calvert Manor by ninetynine year leases. Before
Prince Georee's became a county he had leased 100 acres just
west of Charles Town to John Davis, a 100 acres tract in the
wutheast comer to Robert Bradley, and a three-cornered tract
falittle over two acres by the river to Charles Tracy. In July,
1§97, he leased an additional 163 acres, including the land in
Chatles Town, except for those lots which had already been
wld to Thomas Emms of London, a mariner, and David Small,
1+ merchant.™

In June, 1697 the General Assembly passed two acts: one
onfirming titles of the land for the use of churches and the
ther empotering commissioners of each county to purchase
ind for the use of the courts. Three months later, at the
September court, Captain Emms’ and Small’s title was vested
i them as land leased from Groome, and allowed them 900
pounds of tobacco per acre as a fair price. A new survey was
Wlko made for the two acres for the church and three adjoining
wres on the west for the courthouse.'

The courthouse and the church were evidently on the west
dde of the town, for John Davis leased a four acre strip across
the east end of his 100 acre tract. The agrcements to sell this
nd indicate that it was near the church.)? The historian
mav wonder whether all the town lots had already been sold,
orif these attorneys wanted this particular land becausc it would

he near the courthouse.

Local travel to the town was by both road and ferry. In 1696
2 public ferry was maintained temporarily to Pig Point in
A\nne Arundel County and paid for out of provincial funds.?®
This public ferry was evidently discontinued after a year or so,
id a private one instituted. In 1705 Alexander Deheniossa,
wm innkeeper, was operating it with William Smith as ferry-
man.1?

The road leading to Charles Town was one of the main
routes of the county. Tt was twenty feet wide and was marked
with two notches on trees or posts at cach side of the roadway.

¥ PGCo, Land Rec., Lib. A, £. 65
*Ihid., Lib. C, f. 157a; PGCo. CL. Rec., Lib. A, £. 251:5.

XIX, p. 134, and XXXVIIL p. 91

"PGCo. €L Rec, Lib. B, f. 437
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But there were those whe did not appreciate its location. At
the September, 1697 session of court, Christopher Beanes, whe
lived at “Brookridge” plantation which joined Mount Calvert
Manor on the west, compliined that he was bothered by escap-
ing horses which ate his comn, and he requested permission t-
change the road. He was given leave to do so, if he could pro
vide as good a road as the existing one.2* Whether or not he
did, the record does not indicate.

Who were the people one might meet on the streets of Charles
Town? On court days the town was busy with officers of the
county court: the justices varying from cight to twelve i
number, the clerk of the court, the sherifl, the coroners. the
clerk of the indictments, the attorneys, the cryer, and the
drummer. During the first cight months after the establishment
of the county, the court met every month. After that it met in
January, March, June, August, September, and November, with
some - additional meetings until 1708, when the Genen!
Assembly set the fourth Tucsday of March, June, August, an
November as court days.?!

The first justices of the county court were Thomas Hollyday
William Hutchison, William Barton, John Wight., Robert
Bradley, William Tanyhill, David Small, and Robert Tyler
who were among the most respected men in the county. New
commissions of the peace were issued from time to time at the
pleasure of the governor with some new names cither added ¢
substituted each time. They were a closely knit group. with
many ties of blood and marriage. Certain families with the:
affiliated members scemed to emerge as the local leaders. The *
group included many merchants and two physicians, but all of
the men were well-to-do planters. A study of the 1719 lice
of constables’ returns (the only surviving one for this twents
five year period when Chatles Town was the county seat) shosc
that while most of the county inhabitants possessed only one
two, three, or four taxables, those appointed as justices had
[rom five to twenty taxables, with John Bradford and Thomae
Addison with forty-five and fifty-two respectively.

= Ibid., Lib. A, f. 221,
= drch. Md., XXVIL, p. 368
= Black Books. X. pp. 7-14, Hall of Records, Annapolis
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These men considered it their duty and their responsibility
1 serve when appointed, even though the remuneration was
Jight, cighty pounds of tobacco for cach days' attendance at
court. Only one man refused to serve. In 1702 John Smith,
v planter of Mttapany Hundred, was called in, but protested
Mt he was not fit to hold this office since he was not able to
set on a horse without help. He also maintained that he had
heen mistaken for another John Smith who had served from
1897 10 1699 but who had moved out of the county His
protest was accepted, and a new justice was appointed.

There was also one other instance in which there was some
reluctance to serve. The name of Robert Bradley, who was one
A the first justices, appeared in the sccond commission which
was dssuied on June 6, 1697, Dradley failed to appear at the
June court to take the oaths. At the following March session
he was summuoned by the sheriff to appear in court and to take
the necessary oaths; Bradley now appeared. The commission
was t 1 to him, but he replied that while he was willing to
wrve s Kine and Country, he thought that he was at that
fime 1t capa’ le of serving as a justice of the peace and refused
to take the oaths. However, six months later at the Se_ptem\)er
court, Bradley appeared and complied with the requirements
of offe = e served faithfully for the remainder of the term
and v - reappointed to successive terms. Eventually Bradley
wrved 15 a chif justice until 1709 when he was appointed a
wstice of the Provincial Court. In the meantime, he was also
tlocted as a delegate to the General Assembly and served as
speaker of the Lower House from 1708 to 1711,

Gounty records were kept by the clerk of the county court,
1nd he was instructed to appear at his office in Charles Town
wvery Wednesday and Saturday unless the day proved wet. Tn
wieh a case he was then to appear on the first dry day thereafter.
William Gooper, the first clerk, died four months after the
establishment of the county. Among the papers connected with
the administration of his estate is one which throws an interest
ing insight into the funeral customs of that time. Tn one bill
of charges, Charles Tracy, an innkeeper, presented a claim for

#PGCo. CL Rec, Lib. B, . 162
S qbid, Lib. A, T, 167, 206, $42; Smith, Conrt Records, p. Xx¥.
PGCo. i Rec, Lib. A, € 515; Smith, Court Records, p. Xxiit.
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reimbursement to David Small, the estate’s administrator,
consisting of a list of the liquor dispensed for the funeral. It
included 11 pints of brandy, 1014 gallons of cider, and 10
gallons of boiled cider with spirits. The whole bill amounted
to 1445 pounds of tobacco. The coffin cost only 400 pounds
but it was listed as a separate item and not included in the lict
of funcral charges.*® No doubt all of the county officials. plue
residents of the town and his friends for miles around, expresced
their grief by quaffing these refreshments.

Joshua Cecell, an attorney, replaced Cooper as clerk of the
county court and keeper of the records, and served for tw
years. Later he served for a time as clerk of indictments. In
1698 Edward Willet, 1 pewterer, was appointed clerk of the
county court. He served only one year but continued as depun
under the next two clerks, Henry Bonner and Thomas Dent
In January, 1708 Willet was again appointed to the position
and served for several years. While serving as deputy clerl
he was employed by the justices to write out the rules of the
court on parchment, frame them, and to have them plaed
in the most visible place in the courthouse.

The court also had a cryer and a drummer. John Joyce wie
the first cryer and served until his death three years later. Simon
Nicholls was then appointed cryer in 1609 and was still servinz
in 1721. As a matter of fact, he went on to complete fifty
years of service as cryer and retired at the age of 106 in 1710

Anthony Smart was the first drummer and served for a vear
and a half. The county was then without a drummer unt!
January, 1704 when Marmaduke Scott, an innkeeper. wit
appointed to beat the drum three times in the morning and once
in the afternoon. A few years later the justices sent to England
for a new drum with Prince George's County in colored letters
printed on it Tn 1711 John Mason became the drummer

The lucrative office of sheriff was considered the most im
portant office in the county and was much sought after. The
sheriff received 10 per cent of the annual levy for collecting it

= Inventories & Accounts, Lib. 15, f. 279; List of Funeral Charges, PG Court
Tox 10, folder 6. Hall of Records, Annapolis,

#PGCo. CL. Rec., Lib. B, f. 337a

# PGCo. Levy Book. Lib. A, f. 560; PGCo. Ct. Rec, Lib. LI, f. 80, 213

= PGCo. C1. Rec, Lib. B, f. 286a; Lib. D, £. 34; Lib. G, £. 38
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plus certain fees. Thomas Greenfield, who was the brother-in-
law of Col. Thomas Hollyday,* was the first sheriff of the
county and served until 1699, In that year he was elected as a
delegate 1o the General Assembly and served in that capacity
until 170%. He also served as a justice of the Provincial Court
in the same period, and in 1708 he was appointed a member
of the Conncil in which he served until his death in 1715.

Both the Province of Maryland and Prince George’s County
arew rapidly. The venture of establishing towns had proved
<0 successful, that in 1706 the General Assembly passed another
Act for the Advancement of Trade and designated many more
towns in the province, including five new towns or ports in
Prince George's County. These were Mill Town, Nottingham,
and Queen Anne on the Patuxent River, Marlborough on the
Western Branch, and Aire at Broad Creek. The following year
a Supplementary Act was passed, adding to Nottingham the
three acres where George Harris had built dwellings and stores,
nd established the town of Piscataway at the head of
Piscataway Creek !

Charles Town could not help but feel the loss of trade to
these new towns, particularly Nottingham only five miles down
the Patuxent River, to Queen Anne eight miles upstream, and
to Marlbrough four miles to the northwest on the Western
Branch. The first intimation that Charles Town was slipping
came during a fight over county ferry service. In 1710 a petition
was prescnted by forty-two persons requesting that Charles
Town and Pig Point in Anne Arundel County should be joined
by a ferry. The request was granted and ferry service, operated
by Mr. James Stoddart with John Edgerly as ferryman, was
then started, Stoddart was a large land owner in Charles Town,
and he had been appointed a justice of the county court in
1609 and in 1709 a chief justice. However, the matter of the
forry became an issue between two factions in the county.
Another petition, requesting the discontinuance of the service,
sas presented to the General Assembly. This in turn was
aranted, and after a number of protests and delays ferry service
was eventually discontinued. Stoddart was paid for nineteen

months of service. Despite the order Stoddart, William Tany-

* PGCo. Wills, Lib. 11, £, 314
* Arch. Md., XXVI, p. 637, and XXVIL, p. 160.








